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INTRODUCTION 

The structure of the archaeological description 

Deposits were linked in stratigraphic order, or failing 
this were associated using the dating provided by the 
associated finds (and very occasionally the architec­
tural detail) to produce a stratigraphic description 
and development for the whole site. 

The archaeological description is presented geo­
graphically, that is area by area. This is because there 
were no stratigraphic links between the excavated 
areas, which lay on the south-east, north-west and 
north-east of the Mount House site (Fig. 2.1). 
Comparing the finds between them also indicated 
that there was also relatively little chronological 
overlap, making detailed correlation of the phasing 
between them impossible. The various trenches dug 
east and south of the Mount House site are also 
described as a separate group. Each area is described 
chronologically using the same broad dating frame­
work, which is explained below. As the earliest 
deposits were found in the trenches outside the 
Mount House site, these are described first. 

The chronology of the site is based on site 'periods'. 
Periods 1 and 2, which are respectively Roman and 
Saxo-Norman, are represented by pottery and other 
finds, but only by a single deposit on the main site, 
though activity of these periods is present in the 
surrounding area. The succeeding site periods (from 
the 12th century to the present) have been defined 
according to the major changes in the pottery types 
upon which the ceramic dating is based, since it is the 
pottery which provides by far the majority of 
the dating evidence (see Chapter 3). Changes in 
the ceramic sequence do not necessarily correspond 
to the dating of major alterations to the structures on 
the site, and some of the site periods have been 
subdivided as they contain several major structural 
changes to the manor. This is true for Periods 3-6 
(covering the 12th and 13th centuries). The sub-
periods do not necessarily reflect chronological 
divisions within the periods, simply sequences of 
events within the period as a whole. Thus within the 
mid 12th century (Period 4) Period 4a is earlier than 
4b, and 4b than 4c, but these do not correspond rigidly 
to chronological divisions (for instance 1140-50,1150-
60,1160-75) within the timespan, and they could all 
have occurred late within this period. 

In contrast to the subdivided periods, Period 8 
covers both the late medieval and early post-medieval 
periods, and could have been divided on ceramic 
grounds. Due to the paucity of excavated evidence 
from the parts of the site examined, however, this has 
been left as one period. Period 9, which covers the 

17th and 18th centuries, has been divided more 
arbitrarily because of a phase of robbing and 
alterations evident from both coins and pottery in 
the mid 17th century. As with Period 8, the character 
of the evidence has led to a less detailed treatment 
than in earlier medieval periods. 

Plans summarising the developments in Periods 
3-7 (Figs 2.4, 2.8, 2.13, 2.20 and 2.22) accompany 
the description of the south-east area, and for the 
reader's convenience those for Periods 4-7 are 
repeated in the section describing the north-west 
area (Figs 2.24, 2.27, 2.32 and 2.39). 

The methodology of the excavations 

All of the excavations on the Mount House site, and 
the additional trenches dug on the adjacent Mount 
Mills site, were carried out under the direction of 
Brian Durham. When in 1984 it was realised that 
planning permission had been granted for the 
construction of sheltered housing on the site, OAU 
sought permission to establish the extent of the 
threatened remains by trial trenching. The initial trial 
trenches were positioned to locate a major building 
complex anywhere on the site, within the constraints 
imposed by the need to avoid both the existing 
access road and landscape features, and to keep as 
close as possible to the areas designated for new 
buildings (Fig. 2.1). The trenching established that 
stone buildings were very well-preserved, and 
suggested that the medieval manor was laid out 
around a central courtyard. The south-east area 
contained a complex of buildings centred upon a 
very substantial tower (Frontispiece and PI. 2.1); the 
north-west area revealed a curtain wall fronted by a 
moat, with ranges up against the inside on the north 
and north-west surrounding a courtyard. 

With funding from English Heritage area excava­
tions were then undertaken within the footprints of 
the proposed new buildings on the south-east and 
north-west, commencing early in July and with a 
completion deadline of the end of August. The 
developer also allowed additional topsoil stripping 
in the south-east area to establish the plan of the 
buried walls, but excavation in this area (the north­
west part of the tower area) was restricted. No further 
work was allowed in areas not directly threatened. 
The scale of work was dictated by the limited time 
available. 

In 1988, a watching brief was maintained east of 
the Mount House (Trench XIII) during test trenching 
carried out by contractors. Six small trenches were 
excavated in the yard south-east of the Mount 
House. 

15 


